100

33613-1-III; 34048-1-III



MAY 2 2 2017

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By____

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF LESTER J. KILE, Deceased

CODY KENDALL,

Respondent,

V.

JEANNIE KILE,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW (with appendix)

Joseph W. Brown, WSBA #41965 The Law Office of Paul B. Mack 300 Bank of Whitman Building 618 W. Riverside Ave Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 624-2161

Attorney for Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jeannie Kile asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III of the Court of Appeals filed its decision March 7, 2017. A motion for reconsideration was timely filed and denied in an order filed April 20, 2017. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-19. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-20.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals Err When It Failed to Determine Whether any Allegedly Inconsistent Positions by Petitioner Actually Benefitted Her or Were Actually Accepted by the Court?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals Err When It Affirmed the Trial Court's Conclusion that Petitioner's Prior Positions in Her Marriage Dissolution Action Were Clearly Inconsistent with Her Positions in the Present Action?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals Err When It Affirmed the Trial Court's Reliance on Extrinsic Evidence to Determine Who Should Operate a Farm Pursuant to a Will Where There Was No Relevant Ambiguity to the Issue of Who Was Entitled to Operate the Farm and the

Extrinsic Evidence Post-Dated the Execution of the Will and Did not Refer to the Execution of the Will?

- 4. Did the Court of Appeals Err when It Affirmed the Trial Court's Removal of Petitioner as Trustee and Personal Representative of the State Where the Alleged Bases for Those Removals Were the Result of the Errors Identified Above?
- 5. Did the Court of Appeals Err When It Affirmed the Trial Court's Damages Calculation Where the Trial Court's Decision Failed to Account for Costs Actually Incurred by the Petitioner, Which Lead to a Windfall by the Respondent?
- 6. Did the Court of Appeals Err When It Affirmed the Trial Court's Fee and Cost Award, and Awarded Additional Fees, Where All Fee Awards Were Based on the Errors Identified Above?
- 7. Did the Court of Appeals Err When It Summarily Affirmed Without Discussion the Thirteen Specifically Challenged Findings of Fact to Which Error Was Assigned?
- 8. Did the Court of Appeals Err When It Denied Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from a Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act ("TEDRA") petition regarding the Last Will and Testament of Lester J.

Kile (the "Will"). Ex. P1. Lester was a dryland wheat farmer. 2 RP at

- 112. Petitioner Jeannie Kile is his daughter. Clerk's Papers ("CP") at
- 205. Respondent Cody Kendall is Jeannie's son. CP at 205.

The first three paragraphs of section E of the Will are at issue. The first paragraph awarded Jeannie the farm as a trustee in trust:

I give, devise and bequeath to my daughter, Jeannie Kile, as Trustee in trust, all of my interest in Kile Farms, Inc., including any real property included in the assets of that corporation, and any real property and personal property held in my name this is leased or managed, or otherwise utilized by Kile Farms, Inc. (all of which together is referred to below as "the Farm").

Ex. P1 at 4.

The second paragraph empowered the trustee to manage the farm:

The Trustee shall manage the Farm pursuant to common practices of farming, making arrangements or contracts for appropriate payment to persons responsible for farming activity, including persons related to the Trustee. It is my desire that this property be held in trust as long as there are family members willing and able to farm or manage the farming activity.

Ex. P1 at 4.

The third paragraph directs the income of the trust:

The income from the trust, after the payment of expenses, including reasonable reserves for taxes, insurance, equipment and improvement needs, and a reasonable period of operating costs, shall be distributed on a periodic bases, as least annually to Jeannie Kile. If however, Cody

¹First names are used to avoid ambiguity. No offense is intended.

Kendall operates the farm at any time herein, then he shall be entitled to two-thirds of such income and Jeannie Kile shall be entitled to one-third. In the event that Jeannie Kile does not survive me, or upon her death while the Trust is still in effect, her share of the income herein, shall pass to Cody Kendall, and if Cody Kendall is not surviving or upon his death, such interest in the trust income shall pass to Carly Kendall.

Ex. P1 at 4-5. Of note, the third paragraph provides that Jeannie Kile is to get all of the trust income unless Cody Kendall is operating the farm, then he gets two-thirds of the income. *Id.*

Cody filed a TEDRA petition on February 21, 2013, seeking to interpret the Will. CP 467-71. Each party filed summary judgment motions seeking to determine, among other things: (1) who had authority to choose the operator of the farm, and (2) whether Cody had at any time been the operator of the farm and was entitled to two-thirds of the income. CP at 489-509, 726-746. The trial court granted summary judgment with regard to the first issue, holding that Jeannie, as trustee, unambiguously had the power to choose who operated the farm. CP at 112-13. The trial court refused to grant summary judgment regarding whether Cody had at any time operated the farm because it found the word "operates" ambiguous in the Will. CP at 113. It left that issue for trial.

Between the entry of summary judgment and trial, there was a change of judges. The parties proceeded to trial on March 2-4, 2015. On

April 13, 2015, the trial court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. CP at 204-225. Despite the fact that the earlier judge granted summary judgment, finding that Jeannie had the right to choose any operator of the farm, the trial court concluded to the contrary and found that Cody had the right to operate the farm. CP at 210. In reaching that conclusion, the court went beyond the four corners of the Will and relied on other documents to interpret the Will. Specifically, the trial court's finding explicitly references a declaration signed by Lester shortly before his death that was filed in Jeannie's marriage dissolution from her then-husband Gordon Kendall.

Lester's declaration explained that he was the owner of most of the ground "currently being farmed by [his] daughter" Jeannie. Ex. P31 at at 1. Lester stated in the declaration that he had become dissatisfied with the work being performed by Gordon at the farm. *Id.* at 2. Lester threatened to terminate his lease to Jeannie unless Gordon was "removed from performing any further farming operations on [Lester's] ground." *Id.* Lester noted that Cody had moved back to the farm and was already doing work on the farm. *Id.* Specifically, Lester stated:

Approximately three years ago, my grandson, Cody Kendall, moved with his family into my former residence on the farm. I now live in Spokane with my wife. Cody had worked part-time on the farm prior to moving into the old farm house, and has now worked full-time on the farm for the past three years.

Id. at 2. Along with Gordon's removal, Lester expressed that he would like Cody to take over for his father and that he would renew the lease to Jeannie if Cody took over farming. *Id.* Specifically, Lester stated:

I am essentially requesting that my daughter turn over the farming operation to my grandson, Cody Kendall . . . I absolutely must be assured that the farm is operating and managed in accord with good farming practices, and I have come to the conclusion that [Gordon] is either unwilling or unable, or both, to perform these practices himself. I believe that Cody Kendall is ready, willing, and able to perform all of the farming responsibilities, and I am willing to renew the lease to Jeannie Kile on the basis that Cody becomes the primary operator of all farming operations involving my farm.

Id.

Despite the fact that the declaration was not witnessed by two witnesses and does not purport to be a testamentary document, and despite the fact that the declaration makes clear that Jeannie would be the leaseholder of the land, the trial court relied on the declaration explicitly to hold that Cody had the right to operate the farm, and consequently the right to two-thirds of its income. Nowhere in the trial court's findings and conclusions does it identify any ambiguity in the Will regarding who should operate the farm that would warrant resort to extrinsic evidence.

In addition to using the declaration to interpret the Will, the trial court also held, based on the declaration, that Jeannie was judicially estopped from arguing that Cody was not the intended operator of the farm. CP at 216.

The trial court's findings and conclusions do not resolve whether Cody was operating the farm at any time. *See* CP at 204-25. Instead the trial court set a separate damages hearing based on the idea that Cody had the right to operate the farm (and receive two-thirds of its income) from the moment of Lester's death forward.

Jeannie moved for discretionary review of the trial court's posttrial order. That motion was ultimately converted into a notice of appeal by the appellate court.

While that order was on appeal, the trial court held its damages hearing. It heard evidence from three experts, Renee Grandinetti, Todd Carlson, and Allen Hatley. Despite the fact that Ms. Grandinetti's report (unlike the other two) unambiguously failed to account for costs like seeds, fertilizer, and gas, the court adopted it without further comment and entered an award of damages.

The damages award was appealed by notice of appeal and the two appeals were consolidated by order of the Court of Appeals.

The court of appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion dated March 7, 2017. Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration and both parties filed motions to publish. All motions were summarily denied on April 20, 2017. This Petition follows.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE EXCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeals' Abandoned—Without Citation Or Discussion—Settled Precedent Regarding Judicial Estoppel that has been Adopted by All Three Divisions of the Court of Appeals

All three divisions of the Court of Appeals have held that for the doctrine of judicial estoppel to apply, the litigant who asserted the allegedly inconsistent positions must have actually benefited from the earlier position or that earlier position must have been actually adopted by the court. *Taylor v. Bell*, 185 Wn. App. 270, 282, 340 P.3d 951 (2014) (collecting cases from all three divisions applying this doctrine) *review denied* 183 Wn.2d 1012 (July 8, 2015). This rule is the majority rule in the United States. *Johnson v. Si-Cor Inc.*, 107 Wn. App. 902 (2001) (citing *Milgard Tempering, Inc. v. Selas Corps.*, 902 F.2d 703, 716 (9th Cir. 1990)).

Without citation to authority, and in two sentences, the Court of Appeals modified the standard to require only that a party "would" benefit from the testimony, not whether there was an "actual benefit." *In re Estate of Kile*, No. 33613-1-III, slip op. at 12 (Wn. App. 2016). In the

court's own words: "Stated differently, this factor looks to whether the inconsistency was about an important feature of the case." *Id.* at 12. This misinterpretation expands application of judicial estoppel to bar litigants from changing arguments even where their first argument has lost.

"Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position." *Taylor*, 185 Wn. App. at 281 (quoting *Arkison v. Athan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007) (internal quotations omitted). Three factors guide a court's application of judicial estoppel:

(1) whether the party's later position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position, (2) whether acceptance of the later inconsistent position would create the perception that either the first or second court was misled, and (3) whether the assertion of the inconsistent position would create an unfair advantage for the asserting party or an unfair detriment to the opposing party.

Taylor, 185 Wn. App. at 282 (citing Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 861, 281 P.3d 289 (2012)).

There are two bases for the doctrine's existence: (1) "preservation of respect for judicial proceedings;" and (2) "avoidance of inconsistency, duplicity, and waste of time." *Id.* (quoting *Anfinson*, 174 Wn.2d at 861).

Judicial estoppel is different from other estoppel doctrines.

Because the doctrine is designed to protect the court and not litigants, the

doctrine has been held by a majority of courts to apply even where the traditional requirements of estoppel—privity, reliance, and prejudice—are absent. *Johnson*, 107 Wn. App. at 907-08.

In light of the fact that the limitations of normal estoppel cases are removed, the doctrine risks being too broadly applied. Accordingly, the doctrine must be appropriately cabined in a way related to its purpose. That is why the majority of courts have required "prior success" or "judicial acceptance." *See Johnson*, 107 Wn. App. at 908-09. Not only does this limit application of the doctrine, it does so in a way that tracks the policy basis for the doctrine: avoidance of inconsistency and duplicity while maintaining respect for judicial proceedings.

The cases citing the doctrine have required actual benefit or acceptance. *Taylor*, 185 Wn. App. at 284-85 (judicial estoppel did not apply where factual position advanced in earlier proceedings was actually rejected by the court); *Deveny v. Hadaller*, 139 Wn. App. 065, 620-22, 161 P.3d 1059 (2007) (judicial estoppel did not bar breach of contract claim for bankruptcy litigant who failed to disclose existence of contract because evidence established no benefit); *Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc.*, 126 Wn. App. 222, 230-31, 108 P.3d 147 (2005) (judicial estoppel applied because bankruptcy litigant failed to schedule legal claim he was required to schedule and court accepted his position by

resolving his case as a "no asset" case); see also Lee ex rel. Office of Grant County Prosecuting Attorney v. Jasman, 183 Wn. App. 27, 69-70, 332 P.3d 1106 (2014) ("The party taking the [inconsistent] positions must have been successful in maintaining the first position.").

The *Johnson* case, which originally adopted this rule, and the *Taylor* case both heavily rely on the Ninth Circuit's opinion of *Milgard Tempering, Inc. v. Selas Corp.*, 902 F.2d 703, 716 (9th Cir. 1990), which explicitly states that the majority view requires that "the inconsistent assertion was actually adopted by the court in the prior litigation" because "absent judicial adoption of the prior position, there is no risk of inconsistent results." *Id.* at 716.

There is good reason for this. If the rule applied where there was only a <u>risk</u> of inconsistent positions as opposed to <u>actual</u> adoption of inconsistent positions, the judicial estoppel rule becomes a sword to be used by litigants. For instance, suppose a party takes a position in a breach of contract action that a contract was not formed, yet after losing that position seeks to enforce its own rights under the contract. Under the plain meaning of the appellate court's opinion, the party that sought, and failed, to challenge the validity of the contract would be barred from later enforcing its rights to a contract that has been ruled valid. That simply does not make sense.

Although the opinion below is unpublished, it still risks being applied in the Superior Courts. GR 14.1 was amended last year to allow the citation of unpublished opinions dated after 2013. While the rule makes clear that the cases are persuasive authority, given the clarity with which the court states its rule, this case could be applied to dramatic effect in the lower courts.

Also, it should be noted that while all three divisions of the court of appeals have applied the majority rule, and that the rule was first adopted in 2001, this Court has not yet provided its guidance as to the applicability of the rule. Most recently, this court denied review of the *Taylor* case. Accordingly, acceptance of this case can provide needed clarity regarding the application of judicial estoppel in Washington, an issue of public importance.

2. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Effectively Holds that When One Ambiguity Exists in a Will (Thereby Warranting Resort to Extrinsic Information to Resolve that Ambiguity), the Extrinsic Information Can Be Used to Change Unambiguous or Silent Provisions in the Will, Even Where that Information Post-Dates the Execution of the Will. This Contradicts Existing Precedent

The intent of a testator "should, if possible, be garnered from the language of the will itself." *In re Estate of Price*, 73 Wn. App. 745, 754, 871 P.2d 1079 (1994) (citing *In re Estate of Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d 431, 435-36, 693 P.2d 703 (1985)). "[C]ourts must give effect to the testator's

intent as of the time of the will's execution." *Id.* (citing *Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d at 436). "If, after reading the entire will, the court finds ambiguity as to the testator's intent, extrinsic facts and circumstances can be admitted to explain the language of the will." *Id.* at 755 (citing *Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d at 436). However, the extrinsic evidence must be helpful in clarifying the language of the will or the testator's intent in drafting the will. *Id.*

Here, the trial court explicitly relied on extrinsic information that was created after the execution of the Will and for a non-testamentary purpose, to wit, a declaration executed in a dissolution proceeding. CP at 210. The court used that document to read into the Will an obligation for the trustee to appoint Cody as operator of the farm. In its findings and conclusions, the trial court never found an ambiguity warranting resort to extrinsic evidence. *See* CP at 204-225.

In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals found that resort to extrinsic evidence was warranted because the word "operates" in the Will was ambiguous. *Kile*, slip. op. at 4, 7. It relied on the summary judgment order from the previous trial court judge. *See id.* Recall, however, that the summary judgment order was the same order that concluded that Jeannie, as trustee, could "make contracts and arrangements for its operation." As the trial court's oral ruling on

summary judgment shows, that included choosing an operator. 1 RP at 9-10. In other words, the Court of Appeals used an ambiguity found in an earlier order holding that Jeannie could unambiguously choose an operator for the farm to open the Will to extrinsic evidence, to affirm a holding that Jeannie had to choose Cody as operator.

Taken at face value, the Court's opinion, therefore, stands for the proposition that an ambiguity anywhere is an ambiguity everywhere. Not only does this contradict the caselaw identified above, but it violates the key principle that the intent of the testator is what should control and parol evidence should not be used to rewrite a will.

Not only does the court's opinion rely on extrinsic evidence, the evidence it relies upon post-dates the execution of the Will and was prepared for the purposes of a dissolution, not for testamentary purposes. A probate court's goal is limited to determining the testator's intent at the time of the Will's execution. *Bergau*, 103 Wn.2d at 435-36. Here, the Court of Appeals not only considered post-execution materials that did not purporting to identify Lester's testamentary intent at the time of the Will's execution, the opinion declares such evidence to be optimal: "It is difficult to imagine there could be better evidence of a testator's intent than to have the testator testify under oath on that topic." *Kile*, slip op. at 8.

By both expanding the issues that may be resolved by extrinsic evidence and the type of extrinsic evidence that may be consulted, the Court of Appeals' decision erodes protections put in place to ensure that the words of a Will control the distribution of assets. The danger inherent in the Court of Appeals' decision is evidenced by the facts of this very case.

Jeannie had been the tenant on Lester's farm continuously since 1988. CP at 776-77. Jeannie had always been entitled to two-thirds of the farm income as the lessee under the lease agreement. CP at 776-77. It was the unambiguous intent of Lester that Jeannie be the lessee alone, and that her husband have no interest. *Id.* The Will gives the farm to Jeannie as trustee for her benefit and only provides that Cody is entitled to anything if he operates the farm or if Jeannie is unwilling to act as trustee. Ex. P1 at 4-5. The declaration that ostensibly shows Lester's intent to give everything to his grandson, in fact is a promise to renew the lease to Jeannie. Ex. P31. Somehow, from all of this, the courts below found that Lester favored his grandson as opposed to his daughter.

Given the contradictions between the court's opinion and the existing caselaw, review is appropriate.

3. The Opinion Contradicts Well-Settled Landlord / Tenant Law By Providing that the Landlord, as Opposed to the Tenant, Has First Right to Crops Grown on Farm Land.

As the trial court noted, and as is uncontested in the record, farms that are operated on a landlord tenant basis are "[a]lmost universally" leased in a manner providing that two-thirds of the crop is the tenant's to keep and one-third of the crop goes to the landlord. CP at 720. The general rule in Washington is that the lessee of the land has title to the crops as possessor of the land until the crops are severed and delivered to the lessor as rent. *Benhart v. Gorham*, 14 Wn. App. 723, 724, 544 P.2d 141 (1976). This rule may be varied by contract. *Id.* at 724-25.

Without comment, the Court of Appeals' opinion assumes the opposite to be true. In construing that the Will anticipates a family member tenant, the opinion notes that if Cody were merely the manager of the farm and not the operator "the will would still distribute all of the farm proceeds to Cody and Jeannie without consideration of any share for the actual farmer." *Kile*, slip op. at 9, n.3. This conclusion assumes that the trust (as landlord) has the right to all of the crop before the tenant does. Given a dearth of caselaw on this issue in the last several decades, the opinion below carries a risk of altering the landlord / tenant relationship in farms. Accordingly, review is appropriate.

4. The Opinion Contradicts the Law of Damages By Failing to Put the Parties Into the Positions They Would Have Been In Had the Injury Not Occurred

The purpose of a damages award is not to provide a windfall to another party but to place the damaged party in the position he or she would have occupied had the injury not occurred. *Pepper v. J.J. Welcome Const. Co.*, 73 Wn. App. 523, 544, 871 P.2d 601 (1994). The Court of Appeals both failed to cite this standard and to apply it.

After her father's death, Jeannie continued to operate the farm as it had been for years: with her as Trustee/Landlord as well as her personally as the tenant. As such, she paid costs as a tenant would. Irrespective of whether the trust should have borne the costs or not, the reality is that Jeannie paid the costs. 3 RP at 293, 6 RP at 103-04.

The expert for the Respondent, Renee Grandinetti, looked only to the costs incurred by the trust. *See* Ex P81. She did not review Jeannie's tax returns to see the business costs she bore personally. *See id.* If Cody had operated the farm then either the trust or Cody would have borne the costs. By failing to account for those costs, the trial court's damages award represents a windfall to Cody.

5. The Court of Appeals' Affirmance of Petitioner's Removal as Trustee and Personal Representative, as well as the Court of Appeals' Affirmance of and Award of Attorney Fees are Based on Alleged Breaches of Fiduciary Duties Born of the Errors of Law Identified Above

If the Court accepts review and reverses the Court of Appeals and the trial court on the issues identified above, the Court should reverse the removal of Jeannie as Trustee and Personal Representative as those removals were based on the errors identified above.

6. The Court of Appeals Erred When It Summarily Affirmed All of the Challenged Findings of Fact Without Comment

Petitioner hereby renews all of her challenged findings of fact that were summarily denied by the Court of Appeals.

F. CONCLUSION

Petitioner asks this Court to accept review and enter an opinion doing the following: (1) hold that Jeannie Kile had the authority under the Will, as trustee, to choose the operator of the farm, including choosing herself; (2) hold that judicial estoppel does not apply; (3) vacate the damages award; (4) reinstate Ms. Kile as Trustee and Personal Representative; (5) vacate the attorney fee awards and instead awards fees to Ms. Kile; and (6) remand the matter for further proceedings.

May 22, 2017.