FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/20/2017 10:56 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

33613-1-III; 34048-1-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF LESTER J. KILE, Deceased

CODY KENDALL,

Respondent,

V.

JEANNIE KILE,

Petitioner

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven W. Hughes, WSBA 11620 Steven W. Hughes, Attorney at Law 422 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 620 Spokane WA 99201 (509) 444-5141

Attorney for Respondent

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

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. Application of the Doctrine of Judicial Estoppel.

The trial court's decision to apply judicial estoppel is properly reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See <u>Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.</u>, 160 Wn.2d 535, 160 P.3d 13 (2007). The petitioner, Jeannie Kile, attempts to create a "straw man" argument supporting her claim that the trial court erred under the case of <u>Taylor v. Bell</u>, 185 Wa.App. 270, 281, 340 P.3d

951 (2014). Her argument is that judicial estoppel may only be applied in the present case if there was a benefit to Jeannie Kile by her testimony in the prior dissolution proceeding. She claims that she was not benefitted since after the trial of the present TEDRA matter, the Court of Appeals reversed part of the underlying dissolution action and sent the matter back to characterize property.

Ms. Kile overlooks the fact that <u>Taylor</u> held specifically that judicial estoppel may be applied if the prior testimony "was accepted by the court." *Id* at 282. Moreover, although Jeannie Kile was judicially estopped from denying her prior testimony regarding her father's intent with respect to the farm, the trial court still allowed Jeannie Kile to testify that she was the "operator" of the farm in the subsequent TEDRA matter. She simply was not credible. The court did not abuse its discretion with respect to the application of judicial estoppel in the TEDRA matter.

2. Admissibility of Extrinsic Evidence When An Ambiguity Exists in a Will.

Prior to the TEDRA trial, Judge Harold Clarke ruled on crossmotions for summary judgment that the term "operate" as used in the Last Will and Testament of Lester Kile, was ambiguous. CP 111-113. Lester's Will did not define "operator". The Will stated that Cody Kendall was to receive 2/3 of the farm profits when he operated the farm. Exh. P1 at 4.

The Petitioner herein, Jeannie Kile, failed to appeal the Order entered by Judge Clarke but once again argues that Judge Price committed error by admitting extrinsic evidence to determine Lester's intent with respect to the word "operate".

Washington court cases commencing with Webster v. Thorndyke, 11 Wash. 390; 39 P. 677 (1895), have consistently adhered to the rule that if the intent of the testator can be gathered from the Will, it is the duty of the court to see that such intention is given effect. However, when a provision, phrase or word in a Will is subject to two possible constructions, the provision does not clearly express the intent of the testator because it has more than one possible meaning. In other words, it is ambiguous. Judge Clarke ruled that the term "operate" as used by Lester in his Will was ambiguous as a matter of law. CP 111-113.

Where a Will is ambiguous, the court will go outside it to determine its intended meaning. See <u>Carney v. Johnson</u>, 70 Wn.2d 193, 422 P.2d 486 (1967). The court in <u>Carney</u> noted that "the nature of a latent

ambiguity is such that it is not discoverable without extrinsic evidence." *Id.* at 196.

The petitioner, Jeannie Kile, argued that Lester used the term "operates" to mean "operate" as under the Farm Service Agency of the Department of Agriculture. 2 RP 164-166. Cody Kendall, citing Jeannie Kile's sworn declaration in her previous divorce trial, which said "it is clear that my grandfather's wishes were to have Cody farm his property. That, in fact, is what is occurring... Cody was essentially operating the farm prior to this dissolution." Ex. P31. Cody and his grandfather Lester, therefore, used the term "operate" to mean farm. Jeannie must concede that the term "operate" was a latent ambiguity in the Will, since Lester's Will made no reference to U.S. Department of Agriculture farming services definitions.

The trial judge did not commit an error by allowing extrinsic evidence to explain a latent ambiguity in the Will. Moreover, this case is unique in that the decedent, Lester Kile, two (2) months before his death, gave a sworn declaration (created by Jeannie Kile's attorney in her divorce trial), which stated "I am essentially requesting that my daughter turn over the farming operation to my grandson, Cody Kendall... I am willing to

renew the lease to Jeannie Kile on the basis that Cody becomes the primary operator of all farming operations involving my farm." Ex. P31 at 2.

3. Landlord/Tenant Law Argument.

The petitioner argues, for the very first time, that landlord tenant law somehow dictates that the lessee of land has title to the crops as possessor of the land until the crops are severed and delivered to the lessor as rent, citing Benhart v. Gorham, 14 Wn.App. 723, 724, 544 P.2d 141 (1976). It is hard to imagine how this argument would apply to the present case. It is stated in Lester Kile's Last Will and Testament that Cody Kendall, if he operates/farms the land (and he was doing so), is entitled to 2/3 of the crop proceeds, after payment of all expenses, equipment, insurance, reserve, and other items necessary to farm. This nonsensical argument, raised for the very first time in this petition for review, does not merit further response.

4. Improper Damage Award to Cody Kendall.

The petitioner, Jeannie Kile, argues that the damage award following a damage trial with testimony from multiple CPA's as well as a jointly appointed forensic accountant provided a "windfall" to Cody Kendall.

This argument has no application in the present case.

The court, after detailed accounting at trial, concluded that Cody Kendall was entitled to unpaid 2/3 net crop proceeds while he operated the farm from 2012 through 2014. The court deducted the amount that Cody received as salary. The court also awarded damages to Cody for loss of the farmhouse provided by Lester, along with an amount in legal fees erroneously paid by the estate to Jeannie for her own legal charges. The court also assessed the forensic accounting fees against Jeannie Kile. The damages awarded by the trial court compensated Cody Kendall for his actual losses caused by the wrongful conduct of Jeannie Kile. There was no windfall to Cody Kendall.

5. Removal of Personal Representative and Affirmance of an Award of Attorney Fees and Costs Based on Breach of Fiduciary Duties.

In the present case, the trial court found, as a matter of fact, that Jeannie Kile, as Personal Representative/Trustee, failed to provide a trust accounting or inventory until a lawsuit required it; refused for over a year to fund the trust or to transfer real estate in to the trust; failed to pay Cody Kendall 2/3 of the farming income; retained farm proceeds for herself and co-mingled trust funds with her own funds to the extent that a forensic

CPA was not able to untangle her books; and deposited estate, trust and her own funds into at least 18 separate bank accounts.

Moreover, Jeannie Kile could not testify if the farm was profitable; she attempted to coerce Cody Kendall, a co-beneficiary under the trust and estate, to enter in to an "at-will employment contract" rather than allowing him to operate the farm as admittedly was required under the Will; and entered into a long-term farm lease with individuals to farm the trust property who are not named as beneficiaries under the Last Will and Testament, in violation of Lester's Will. Jeannie filed and prosecuted an unlawful detainer action against Cody to remove him from the residence on the Kile family farm, provided to Cody, by Lester, so that he could remodel it and protect farm equipment.

Washington courts have long held that a trustee may be removed and a successor appointed for reasonable cause, RCW 11.98.030. Reasonable cause may include a conflict of interest between a trustee beneficiary and other trust beneficiaries. A personal representative must administer the trust in the best interests of the beneficiaries. In Re Estate of Jones, 152 Wn.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). RCW 11.68.070 provides that should the personal representative of an estate become subject to removal for any

reason specified in RCW 11.28.250, the court may, within its discretion, remove the personal representative and appoint a successor. RCW 11.28.250 authorizes the court to remove the personal representative when it has reason to believe that she has wasted, embezzled, or mismanaged property of the estate, or where for other cause or reason the court finds that such action is necessary, if the conduct was similar to other grounds listed in the statute.

The trial court is given broad discretion as to the grounds upon which he/she may remove an executor/trustee, so long as the grounds are valid and supported by the record. In Re Estate of Aaberg, 25 Wn.App. 336, 607 P.2d 1227 (1980). If any of the trial courts several grounds for removal is valid, its decision will not be disturbed on appeal. *Id.* In the present case, Jeannie grossly mismanaged the trust and estate for her personal benefit. Jeannie's conduct provided sufficient legal basis to remove her from both positions. There was no error.

6. The Court Did Not Commit an Error When It Awarded Attorney Fees and Costs.

RCW 11.96A.150 empowers the superior court or the court on appeal to "order costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees to be awarded to any party..." The court in <u>Estate of Cooper</u>, 81 Wn.App. 79, 913, P.2d

393 (1996), citing the above statutory provision declared the following at page 92:

A trust beneficiary who establishes a breach of fiduciary duty by the trustee, is entitled to recover attorneys' fees against the trustee personally.

Judge Price found that Jeannie had breached her fiduciary duty as trustee and as personal representative and, therefore, did not commit error by awarding attorney fees and costs to Cody. Judge Price engaged in a detailed Lodestate analysis of the attorney fees and costs sought by Cody's counsel. CP 557-562. Jeannie's counsel was allowed to object and to provide an affidavit of an "independent attorney" (former partner of Jeannie's principal counsel in the TEDRA trial). CP 517-534. The court rendered a decision as to the reasonable hours expended on behalf of Cody and multiplied the same by a reasonable hourly rate. No error was committed.

7. <u>Respondent Is Entitled to His Reasonable Attorney Fees On This Petition for Review.</u>

Rules of Appellate Procedure 18.1(a) allows this court to award attorney fees and costs on appeal "if applicable law grants to a party the right to recover reasonable attorney fees or expenses." In general, where a prevailing party is entitled to attorney fees below [trial court], they are

entitled to attorney fees if they prevail on appeal. Richter vs. Trimberger, 50 Wn.App. 780, 786, 750 P.2d 1279 (1988) (citing West Coast Stationary Eng'rs Welfare Fund vs. City of Kennewick, 39 Wn.App. 466, 477, 694 P.2d 1101 (1985)).

The courts had authority and did award reasonable attorney fees in the TEDRA trial and on appeal. Similarly, this Court has authority to award reasonable attorney fees to Cody.

G. CONCLUSION

Judge Price properly exercised the court's discretion in determining the intent of Lester's Will and rendered judgment and reasonable attorney fees to Cody based upon facts presented and expert testimony. The Court of Appeals affirmed and awarded additional attorney fees to Cody at trial.

This Court is respectfully requested to deny review and to award Cody his reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred herein.